
Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

LAYTONVILLE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF JUNE 24, 2021 

 
A.  CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: 
The Governing Board of the Laytonville Unified School District held a regular meeting via ZOOM on 
June 24, 2021.  Board President Calvin Harwood called the meeting to order at 5:31 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
Trustees Present: Calvin Harwood, Meagen Hedley, Erin Gamble, Mat Paradis & Elina Agnoli  
Administrators Present: Joan Potter 
Student Representative: Absent 
 
B.  PUBLIC INPUT re CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: None 
 
C.  CLOSED SESSION AGENDA: 
  

CS-1: PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS    CS-1 
(Title: LHS Principal and LEMS Principal) 

CS-2: PUBLIC EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT/EMPLOYMENT    CS-2 
(Title: LHS Principal and LEMS Principal Contracts) 

 CS-3: PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION     CS-3 
(Title: Superintendent) 

CS-4: PUBLIC EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT/EMPLOYMENT    CS-4 
(Title: Superintendent)  

CS-5:  PUBLIC EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE/DISMISSAL/RELEASE                              CS-5 
  (No additional information required) 

 (Adjourned to Closed Session at 5:33 pm) 
(Meeting called back to order at 6:47 pm) 
 
D.  ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM CLOSED SESSION: Board President Calvin Harwood 
announced that on Closed Session Item 2: Public Employee Appointment/Employment, the 
board voted unanimously to approve the LES & LHS Principals’ contracts as presented. On 
Closed Session Item 4, Public Employee Appointment/Employment, the board voted 
unanimously to approve the Superintendent’s contract as presented.  
 
E.  PATRIOTIC OBSERVANCE: Calvin Harwood led the Pledge of Allegiance to the flag.  
 
F.  ACCEPTANCE OF AGENDA: 

• Motion to approve the Agenda by Meagen Hedley, Seconded by Mat Paradis, 
unanimously approved with a 5-0 vote. 
 

G.  PUBLIC INPUT: None 
 
H.  ACTION: CONSENT AGENDA 

 June 17, 2021 Regular Meeting Minutes 
 Personnel Assignment Order 
 Consolidated Application for Funding Categorical Aid Programs  

 
Motion to accept the Consent Agenda by Erin Gamble, seconded by Meagen Hedley, 
unanimously approved with a 5-0 vote. 
 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 1 



Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

I.  DISCUSSION / ACTION ITEMS: 
 
I.1. Adoption of the 2021/2022 Budget 
• After further review of the 21/22 budget an amendment is needed.  Revenue was overstated 

by $35,491.86 in restricted funding, which could, in out years effect expenditures. The deficit 
left by this amendment will most likely be filled by ESSER III funding as most of the 
overstated revenue was from ESSER I funds. 

• The budget is based on the latest version of the LCFF calculator with lower enrollment/ADA 
projections 

• Budget Highlights 
• LCFF revenue is up $147,000 due to a 5.07% COLA. LCFF revenue includes 

supplemental/concentration which is down.  
• Federal revenue is down $241,000 due primarily to one-time Covid related dollars being 

spent (-169,000).  Impact Aid and MAA are budgeted slightly lower than 20/21 actuals 
(less -15,800) and the one time USDA van grant of 50,800 is removed from revenue.  

• State revenue is up $388,595 all due to Covid dollars. CTEIG carryover reduced 25,700. 
• Local revenue is down $65,000. The primary factors causing this are grant funds ending 

(LCSSP, ROP) and a reduction to Special Education funding. 
• Net effect is a $165,640 increase in revenue. 
• A major component of the budget continues to be employee costs. SUI increased from 

.05% to 1.23% for 21/22. 
• 3% increase in health benefits costs 
• Increases in both PERS (.77%) and STRS (2.21%) costs 
• Encroachment by Special Education continues to increase as funding continues to decline. 
• Covid and distance learning have caused an influx of one time dollars that must be spent 

by 9/2024.  As a result the MYP through 2024 looks strong but we will need to be vigilant 
in the out years.  With declining enrollment we are projected to drop a band at the High 
School in 22/23 and supplemental/concentration funds continue to decrease.  

• We continue to maintain a 4% economic uncertainty reserve and a 6% stabilization 
agreement reserve. 

• Motion to adopt the proposed 2021/22 Budget as amended by Mat Paradis, seconded by 
Erin Gamble, unanimously approved with a 5-0 vote.  

 
I.2. Approval of the 2021-2024 Local Control Accountability Plan (LCAP) 

• The 2021-2021 LCAP was presented at a Public Hearing on June 17, 2021. The plan has 
been finalized and is being presented tonight for Board adoption and approval. 

• Motion to adopt the 2021-2024 Local Control Accountability Plan (LCAP) by Meagen 
Hedley, Seconded by Mat Paradis, unanimously approved with a 5-0 vote. 

 
I.3. Amendment to Superintendent’s Contract  

• The Board reported out action taken regarding the Superintendent’s contract for the year 
2021/2022. 

• Motion to approve the amendment of the Superintendent’s contract with a 3% raise by 
Meagen Hedley, seconded by Mat Paradis, unanimously approved with a 5-0 vote.  
 
 
 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 1 



Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

I.4. Resolution No. 609 for Appropriating the Ending 2020/21 Balance to a Reserve 
• Article XIIIB of the California Constitution requires we appropriate our ending balance 

to our reserve account at the end of each school year.  This resolution provides for the 
appropriation. 

• Motion to adopt Resolution No. 609 for Appropriating the Ending 2020/21 Balance to a 
Reserve by Elina Agnoli, seconded by Erin Gamble, unanimously approved with a 5-0 
vote.  
  

I.5. Resolution No. 610 for Authorizing Budgetary Transfers 
• Education Code 42601 requires a resolution authorizing the County Superintendent of 

Schools to make transfers between expenditure classifications, and to balance expenditure 
classifications as deemed necessary to permit payment of obligations of the District. 
Resolution No. 610 provides for this authorization. 

• Motion to adopt Resolution No. 610 for Authorizing Budgetary Transfers by Mat Paradis, 
seconded by Meagen Hedley, unanimously approved with a 5-0 vote.  

 
I.6. Resolution No. 611 for Permitting Fund Transfers by County Office 

• In order for the County Superintendent of School to transfer funds to pay end of year 
obligations the Laytonville Unified School District Board of Trustees must approve a 
resolution permitting them to do so. 

• Motion to approve Resolution No. 611 for Permitting Fund Transfers by County Office 
by Elina Agnoli, seconded by Erin Gamble, unanimously approved with a 5-0 vote.  

 
I.7. Resolution No. 612 for Fund Transfers for Upcoming Fiscal Year 

• In order for the Superintendent and Business Manager to make fund transfers during the 
2021/22 school year the Board must pass a resolution authorizing them to do so. 

• Motion to approve Resolution No. 612 for Fund Transfers for Upcoming Fiscal Year by 
Meagen Hedley, seconded by Mat Paradis, unanimously approved with a 5-0 vote.  

 
I.8. Resolution No. 613 for Temporary Interfund Cash Transfers for Upcoming Fiscal Year 

• This resolution authorizes the Superintendent and Business Manager to temporarily 
transfer funds to another fund or account of the District to pay obligations. 

• Motion to approve Resolution No. 613 for Interfund Temporary Cash Transfers for 
Upcoming Fiscal Year by Erin Gamble, seconded by Meagen Hedley, unanimously  
approved with a 5-0 vote.  

 
I.9. Resolution No. 614 for Establishing a Board Reserve for Economic Uncertainty Higher than 
the State Requirement 

• Districts are required to adopt a resolution for establishing a reserve that is higher than 
the 4% economic uncertainty state requirement amount. CDE urges school districts to 
commit to maintaining “a prudent level of financial reserves to protect against the need to 
reduce services because of temporary revenue short falls or unpredicted expenditures”. 

• Motion to adopt Resolution No. 614 for Establishing a Board Reserve for Economic 
Uncertainty Higher than the State Requirement by Meagen Hedley, seconded by Mat 
Paradis, unanimously approved by a 5-0 vote.  

 
 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 1 



Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

I.10. Resolution No. 615 for Establishing a Pupil Transportation Equipment Fund 
• The District is being held harmless for transportation funds that were not spent this year 

due to COVID. By setting up a Fund 15 for Pupil Transportation Equipment, leftover 
transportation funds can be moved and used for transportation purchases. 

• Motion to adopt Resolution No. 615 for Establishing a Pupil Transportation Equipment 
Fund by Meagen Hedley, seconded by Mat Paradis, unanimously approved with a 5-0 
vote.  

 
I.11. Approval of the 2021/2022 LCFF Budget Overview for Parents 

• As required by Education Code Section 52064.1, each district is to develop the Local 
Control Funding Formula Budget Overview for Parents in conjunction with the first 
interim budget report. The Business Manager will review the Budget Overview for 
Parents with the Board. 

• Motion to adopt the LCFF Budget Overview for Parents by Meagen Hedley, seconded by 
Erin Gamble, unanimously approved with a 5-0 vote.  

 
I.12. Approval of the 2019/20 & 2020/21 LCAP Annual Update 

• The timeline for completing the 2019/2020 Local Control Accountability Plan annual 
update was extended as a result of COVID. Additionally a new plan called the Local 
Continuity and Attendance Plan was required of all school districts.  

• The completion of the annual updates was instrumental in creating the 2021-2024 new 
Local Control Accountability Plan. 

• Motion to approve the 2019/2020 & 2020/2021 LCAP Annual Updates by Mat Paradis, 
seconded by Erin Gamble, unanimously approved with a 5-0 vote.  

 
J.  INFORMATION ITEMS: 
 
J.1. LCAP Local Indicators 
 
LCFF statute requires that the CA Accountability System include standards for all LCFF 
priorities.  However, state collected data is not available for every priority.  For those priorities 
without indicator data collected by the state, the State Boards has identified that data to be 
collected by the local education agency. 
 
In order to meet the standard for the Local Indicators, LEAs must: 

1.  Measure their progress using locally available information 
2. Report the results to the LEA’s local governing board at a regularly scheduled public 

meeting, and 
3. Upload and publicly report the results through the dashboard. 

 
The Local Indicators include:  Priority One: Basic Services, Priority Two: 
Implementation of State Standards, Priority Three: Parental Involvement, Priority Six: 
School Climate and Priority Seven: Course Access.  The following describe the results 
of required data collection: 
 
*See Board Packet for charts and graphs 
 
 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 1 



Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

K.  ITEMS BOARD MEMBERS WISH ON FUTURE AGENDAS: None 
 
L.  COMMENTS FROM THE BOARD: Hope everyone has fun this summer.   
 
M.  ADJOURNMENT: 
 
Motion to adjourn the meeting by Meagen Hedley, seconded by Mat Paradis, unanimously 
approved with a 5-0 vote. The meeting was adjourned at 7:32 p.m.   The next regular meeting 
will be held on August 12, 2021. 
  
 
 

Respectfully submitted,     Adopted as Final  
         August 12, 2021 
 
________________________________          __________________________________ 
 Joan Viada Potter      Calvin Harwood 
        Secretary to the Board             President of the Board 

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 1 



Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

 
  

 



Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

LAYTONVILLE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
PERSONNEL ASSIGNMENT ORDER #1 2021/22 

August 12, 2021 
 
   Employment Position     Status    Salary        Effective 

 
Certificated Appointment 
Davis, Jennifer         1 FTE Kindergarten Teacher  Prob.  $45,638    8/18/2021  
Davis, Sarah          1 FTE 5th Grade Teacher  Prob.  $45,638    8/18/2021   
Keller, Madeline      0.5 FTE Graphic Arts Teacher  Prob.  $23,334    8/18/2021  
Rogers, Justice         0.114 FTE Welding/Machining  Prob.  $5,320     8/18/2021 
Harwood, Henry      1 FTE 2nd Grade Teacher   Prob.  $45,638    8/18/2021 
Gardner, Megan       1 FTE K/1st Grade Teacher  Prob.  $46,668    8/18/2021 
Keough, Patrick        1 FTE 6th Grade Teacher  Prob.  TBD     8/18/2021 
 
Certificated Resignation 
 
Certificated Layoff 
Certificated Leave of Absence 
 
Certificated Transfer  
Patton, Stacey  1 FTE Intervention Teacher  Perm.  $88,053    8/18/2021  
McCrum, Amanda 1 FTE Intervention Teacher  Perm.  $55,209    8/18/2021 
Jacobson, Lindsay 1 FTE 3rd/4th Teacher   Perm.  $48,573    8/18/2021 
Dunham, Suzie 1 FTE LHS SPED Teacher  Perm.  $75,729    8/18/2021 
              
Classified Appointment 
Carter, Kelsea                5.8 hrs/wk SPED IA  Prob.  $15.10/hr    8/19/2021 
Hale, Taylor                5.8 hrs/wk IA  Prob.   $15.05/hr    8/19/2021 
Pearce-Sebastiani, Kimberley  4.39 SPED IA/1.5 Yard Sup. Prob.  $15.10/hr    8/19/2021 
Rodriguez, Nathanael              8 hr Cust./Maint.  Prob.  $15.71/hr    8/19/2021 
Soto, Kaniesha   4.3 hr IA/1.5 hr Yard  Prob.  $15.15/$15.20/hr. 8/19/2021 
Frost, Misty   Preschool Director  Perm.  $17.70/hr    8/19/2021 
 
Classified/Confidential Appointment 
Classified/Confidential Resignation 
Classified/Confidential Reduction 
Classified Transfer 
Classified Retirement 
Classified Termination 
Classified Layoff 
 
Coaching Positions 
Hernandez, Michael  LHS Football Coach  $1800 Stipend 
Anderson, Maria  LHS Volleyball Coach $1800 Stipend 
Craver, Alyssa   LMS Volleyball Coach $1400 Stipend

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 2 



CONSENT AGENDA 8 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 



Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

LAYTONVILLE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
REVOLVING CASH FUND #1 2021/22 

August 12, 2021 
 
  
DATE  CHECK #  PAYEE          REFERENCE AMOUNT 

 
7/2/2021 2194 Commission on Teacher Credentialing      Cred. Waiver $100.00 
 
8/1/2021 2195 Commission on Teacher Credentialing      Cred. Waiver $100.00 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 3 



Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

 

 



 

    
Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
  
      
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

LAYTONVILLE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
WARRANT LIST 

August 12, 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 4 



 

    
Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 4.1 



 

    
Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

  
  

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 4.2 



 

    
Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

LAYTONVILLE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MONTHLY BUDGET REPORT 

August 12, 2021 
 

 
 
 
 
  
  
  

 

 

    
   

     
 

  

 

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 5 



 

Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

 
  

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 5.1 



 

Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

 
  

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 5.2 



 

Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 5.3 



 

Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

 
 
 
  

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 5.4 



 

Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 5.5 



 

Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 5.6 



 

Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

 
  

 



 

Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

LAYTONVILLE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
BUDGET TRANSFERS 

August 12, 2021 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 6 



 

Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
  

 



 

Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
Page 7 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

 
  

 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

BOARD INFORMATION ITEM J1 
 
Board Meeting Date:  August 12, 2021 
 
Subject: Facilities Report 
 
From:    Joan Potter, Superintendent 
 
Explanation: 

 
Donald Alameida will give a report on the Classroom 10. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BOARD INFORMATION 
Page 8 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

 
  

 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

BOARD INFORMATION ITEM J2 
 
Board Meeting Date:  August 12, 2021 
 
Subject: Summer School Report 
 
From:    Joan Potter, Superintendent 
 
Explanation: 
 
Summer School focused on addressing learning gaps for our students and strategies for 
reintegrating students into the school setting, working collaboratively, and any special needs that 
may have occurred during the school year due to school closures.  We had good participation in 
the elementary school, 45 students, but of course would like to have had even more participation.  
The high school offered its program through Independent Study and focused on graduation 
requirements and credit recovery with a focus on catching students up who fell behind during the 
past year.  Twenty-five students were served at the high school.  The summer school teachers. Gaia 
Reid, ME Miles, Larry Coles and Suzie Dunham, deserve special recognition for their above and 
beyond efforts to help our students especially during these ever so challenging times.  We also 
offered Aikido to our students and we had outstanding participation in that program especially in 
the beginning program.  A high school student assisted the teacher, Izzy Arkin, enhancing the 
experience for all involved.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BOARD INFORMATION 
Page 9 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

 
  

 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

BOARD INFORMATION ITEM J3 
 
Board Meeting Date:  August 12, 2021 
 
Subject: Summer Maintenance Projects Report 
 
From:    Joan Potter, Superintendent 
 
Explanation: 

 
• Completion of new classroom 10 at LES 

 
• Refurbishing the MPR kitchen- New floors, new counters and storage, new sanitizer and 

steam table, LED lighting.  Unfortunately, some of the equipment is back ordered so we 
will be improvising in some areas though health and safety will not be compromised.  

 
• Ongoing maintenance of all fields, grounds and irrigation systems 

 
• Roof repairs were planned however the contractor backed out this past week.  I am now 

in the process of finding someone else.  Meanwhile, Pedro will do the repairs that he can.  
 

• Painting of preschool and kindergarten classrooms 
 

• Deep cleaning and sanitizing of all rooms 
 

• New flooring in the MPR and kitchen, preschool, kindergarten, rooms 13 and 14, the high 
school office and the gym concession/locker room entries.   
 

• General rearranging of classrooms and furnishings to accommodate more distancing. 
 

• Replaced windows at middle school with windows that open. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BOARD INFORMATION 
Page 10 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District  
August 12, 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

BOARD INFORMATION ITEM J4 
 
Board Meeting Date:  August 12, 2021 
 
Subject:   Superintendent’s Goals  
 
From:    Joan Potter, Superintendent 
 
Explanation: 
 
My goals this year are focused on helping the District staff transition back to in person learning 
while continuing to navigate the COVID-19 requirements.  There are many facets to this 
challenge. 
 

1. Staff Development focused on Accelerated Learning. Positive Behavior supports, English 
Language Learner supports. 

2. Supporting and providing the appropriate training for seven new teaching staff members. 
3. Supporting and providing the appropriate training for many new classified staff members. 
4. Safe Cleaning Procedures- training staff and scheduling to implement COVID-19 

cleaning procedures 
5. Curriculum and Instruction-working with staff to deliver high quality curriculum 
6. Facilities 

o Update our Facilities Master Plan.  Work on a new five year plan.   
o New paving for playgrounds and elementary parking lot 
o Research new funding opportunities for future building projects 

 
7. Negotiations-work with both unions to address changes due to COVID-19 regulations 

 
8. Financial Stability 

Work closely with the Business Manager in accessing COVID-19 funds and ensuring that 
our budget is fiscally sound 
 

9. Leadership  
• Work with Site Principals in establishing strategies for improving attendance 

district wide.  
• Build on communication strategies and develop a plan for improving 
• Work closely with the Board in good governance practices and seek out 

training and conferences 
• Ensure ongoing communication with all board members in a timely manner 
• Work closely with both unions, site administrators, the Board and other 

district staff by modeling and providing support for attainment of our district 
goals will be central to my activities.  

• Assist in the recruitment and transitioning of a new Superintendent for the 
2022 school year.  

 
 
 

BOARD INFORMATION 
Page 11 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

 
  

 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

BOARD INFORMATION ITEM J5 
 
Board Meeting Date:  August 12, 2021 
  
Subject:   Budget Update  
 
From:    Joan Potter, Superintendent 
 
Explanation: 

Revisions in Revenues and Expenditures to the adopted  
2021/2022 LUSD Budget 

Since the board adopted the budget on June 24, 2021, the Governor signed the state budget.  
There are a few changes from the May Budget Revision.  As a result of these changes, districts 
are required to share at a public meeting in August 2021, the effect of the revenue changes on the 
adopted budget. 
 
Deferrals have been eliminated for 21-22 
 
Deferrals from February-May 2021 projected to be paid back in August 2021 
 
Concentration Grant component of LCFF increased from 50% to 65% of the adjusted base LCFF 
grant. Approximately $18,000 
 
Lottery funding has increased combined with 20/21 carryover for an estimate of: $30,000 
 
Included in the State adopted budget is one-time funding for the following programs: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We are currently taking part in some of these programs and are waiting on further information to 
determine what the requirements are for each grant and what we can expect in return. 
 
In a nut shell we can expect more funding from the state, but do not yet know how much or what 
will be needed to receive it. 
 
Changes will be reflected at 1st interim. 
 
 

  

BOARD INFORMATION 
Page 12 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

  

 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

BOARD ACTION ITEM K1 
 
Board Meeting Date:  August 12, 2021 
 
Subject:   Declaration of Need for Fully Qualified Teachers 
 
From:    Joan Potter, Superintendent 
 
Explanation: 
 
This Declaration of Need must be filed with the California Commission for Teacher Credentialing 
(CCTC) when a District anticipates having to employ teachers who are not fully credentialed.  
With this declaration on file the district may consider teacher interns who have met certain 
minimum requirements.  The Board’s approval of the Declaration of Need provides the Board and 
public an “opportunity to see the number of emergency permits that the district reasonably expects 
to request in each category and understand the reasons for such requests.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendation: 
Approve the attached Declaration of Need 
 
Attachments:  
Declaration of Need 

 

    
    

   
 

BOARD ACTION 
Page 13 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

 
  

BOARD ACTION 
Page 13.1 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

 
  

BOARD ACTION 
Page 13.2 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

  

BOARD ACTION 
Page 13.3 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

BOARD ACTION ITEM K3 
 
Board Meeting Date:  August 12, 2021 
 
Subject:   Staff Development Plans for 2021/22 
  
From:    Joan Potter, Superintendent 
 
Explanation: 
 
Staff development days this year include: 
August 18th, 19th, November 1, 2021, and June 10th, 2022 for Certificated Staff and 
August 19th and 20th, 2021 for Classified Instructional Staff.  
LES Certificated and instructional classified staff will also be involved in staff development on 
August 16th and 17th, 2021.  
(Other dates may be utilized and staff will receive supplemental pay for participating.) 
Many staff have participated in various staff development activities over the summer. 
 
Staff Development activities for 2021/2022 will focus on return to in person instruction 
strategies such as Accelerated Learning, Trauma informed practices, English Language Learner 
strategies and Positive Behavior Support including social emotional learning.  
 
The following areas from our most recent LCAP will be integral to our plans though the deliver 
model of working with students via the Internet will be the focus.  Many staff members have 
already participated in a variety of trainings.  
 

o Provide a variety of professional development opportunities for both classified 
and certificated staff including but not limited to: the use of math and ELA newly 
adopted curriculum, integrating curriculum, Socratic Seminar, NGSS, VPA, 
World Languages, use of the new social studies framework, ERWC and 
articulation, ELD strategies for access and  use of technology 

o Trauma Informed Practices 
o Strategies for increasing attendance and student achievement 
o Provide professional development for both classified and certificated staff with a 

focus on attaining common core curriculum 
o Provide staff development for CTE teachers to integrate standards based 

curriculum into their programs 
o Support for the implementation of a Multi-tiered System of Support/PBIS  

 
 
Recommendation: 
Approve the 2021/22 Staff Development Program 
 
Attachments:  
None  

 

    
    

   
 

    
    

   
 

BOARD ACTION 
Page 14 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

 
 
 

 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION ITEM L1 
 
Board Meeting Date:  August 12, 2021 
 
Subject:   District Goal Setting  
 
From:    Joan Potter, Superintendent 
 
Explanation: 
 
The goals of the district have taken on a new focus.  Our overriding goal for the district is to 
support all staff, students and parents in providing a strong education that emphasizes safe and 
healthy practices for our students while we return to full in-person instruction during these 
unprecedented times with the COVID-19 Pandemic.  The District will continue to focus on the 
following goals while putting energy into the safe reopening of our schools and the successful 
transition of new staff members. 

Local Control and Accountability Plan 
Goals and Actions 

2021-2024 
Goal 1: Provide basic services including clean, safe and functional facilities; fully credentialed 
teachers; and standards aligned instructional materials in order to support the implementation of 
state standards and access to a broad course of study for all students 
 
Actions: 

1.   Provide and maintain clean, safe and functional school facilities 
2.   Recruit and retain fully credentialed teachers 
3.   Provide Standards Aligned instructional materials for all students 
4.   Support the implementation of state standards 
5.   Provide a broad course of study to all  

 
Goal 2:  Optimize student engagement through creating positive school climates and using a 
variety of strategies for involving parents and engaging families, while providing a safe 
environment in which our young people can achieve the knowledge, skills and attitudes necessary 
for success now, and in the future, recognizing that varied needs require varied programs; 
 
Actions 

1.   Improve attendance and chronic absentee rate 
2.   Improve suspension rate 
3.   Increase students’ sense of safety and school connectedness 
4.   Increase parent participation in all programs including unduplicated pupils and 

students with exceptional needs 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 15 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

Goal 3:  Develop and implement strategies to support and optimize pupil achievement and 
college/career readiness for all students 
 
Actions: 

1.   Increase students ELA and Math skill attainment 
2.   Provide opportunities and supports for College/Career readiness 
3.   Provide support for English Learners 
4.   Provide a strong Physical Education program 

 
Recommendation: 
Review the LUSD Goals for 2021-2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 15.1 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION ITEM L2 
 
Board Meeting Date:  August 12, 2021 
 
Subject:   Safe Return to School Guide  
 
From:    Joan Potter, Superintendent 
 
Explanation: 
 
As COVID Safety guidelines are continually evolving, I have created a Safe Return to School 
Guide for Staff and Students based on the most recent CDC, CDPH and Local Public Health 
guidelines.  

 
  

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 16 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

 
  

 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION ITEM L3 
 
Board Meeting Date:  August 12, 2021 
 
Subject: Revised Board Policy and Administrative Regulation 6158 for     

Independent Study, First Reading and Adoption 
 
From:    Joan Potter, Superintendent 
 
Explanation: 
Board Policy 6158 - Independent Study 
Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 130, 2021) which requires all districts, for the 2021-22 school 
year, to offer independent study to meet the educational needs of students unless a waiver is obtained and 
to adopt policy with specified components in order to generate apportionment for independent study. 
Policy updates the minimum period of time permitted for independent study to be three consecutive 
school days, requires an evaluation to determine if the student should continue in independent study if the 
student fails to make satisfactory educational progress, and requires that content be aligned to grade level 
standards including the requirement for high schools to offer access to all courses offered by the district 
for graduation and approved as creditable for A-G admission criteria. Policy also updated to include the 
requirement for live interaction and/or synchronous instruction based on grade level, tiered reengagement 
strategies for students not generating attendance for a specified period of time, expeditious transition for 
students whose families wish to return to in-person instruction, notice to parents/guardians of specified 
information, the provision of a student-parent-educator conference, upon request, prior to enrollment 
and/or disenrollment, and the keeping of additional records including documentation of each student’s 
participation in live interaction and synchronous instruction on each school day, as applicable. Policy 
updated to include material formerly in the AR regarding requirements for independent study and written 
agreements as well as new requirements regarding the same, including that written agreements must 
include a detailed statement of academic and  other supports that will be provided to address the needs of 
particular students, that the agreement may be signed electronically as specified, and that, for the 2021-22 
school year, the written agreement must be signed no later than 30 days after the first day of instruction. 
Policy updated to include material formerly in the AR regarding course-based independent study and to 
generally align the requirements of course-based independent study with the requirements for general 
independent study. 
Administrative Regulation 6158 - Independent Study 
Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 130, 2021) which includes, adding definitions for "live 
interaction," "student-parent-educator conference" and "synchronous instruction," the requirement for all 
districts for the 2021-22 school year to offer independent study to meet the educational needs of students 
unless the district has obtained a waiver, that independent study may be offered to students whose health 
would be put at risk by in-person instruction as determined by the parent/guardian, the assurance of access 
to Internet connectivity and devices adequate to participate in the educational program and complete 
assigned work, and the documentation of each student’s participation in live interaction and synchronous 
instruction pursuant to Education Code 51747 on each school day, as applicable. Material regarding 
requirements for independent study, written agreements and course-based independent study moved to BP. 
Recommendation: 
Adopt the revised BP & AR 6158 as presented 
 
Attachments: 
Board Policy 6158 
Administrative Regulation 6158 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

Instruction          BP 6158(a) 
 
INDEPENDENT STUDY 
 
The Governing Board authorizes independent study as an optional alternative instructional 
strategy for students whose needs may be best met through study outside of the regular 
classroom setting.  Independent study shall offer a means of individualizing the educational plan 
to serve students who desire a more challenging educational experience, whose health or other 
personal circumstances make classroom attendance difficult, who are unable to access course(s) 
due to scheduling problems, and/or who need to make up credits or fill gaps in their learning.  As 
necessary to meet student needs, independent study may be offered on a full-time basis or on a 
part-time basis in conjunction with part- or full-time classroom study. 
 
The Superintendent or designee may provide a variety of independent study opportunities, 
including, but not limited to, through a program or class within a comprehensive school, an 
alternative school or program of choice, a charter school, and an online course. 
(cf. 0420.4 - Charter School Authorization) 
(cf. 6181 - Alternative Schools/Programs of Choice) 
 
A student's participation in independent study shall be voluntary.  (Education Code 51747, 
51749.5) 
 
Independent study for each student shall be under the general supervision of a district employee 
who possesses a valid certification document pursuant to Education Code 44865 or an 
emergency credential pursuant to Education Code 44300. Students' independent study shall be 
coordinated, evaluated, and documented, as prescribed by law and reflected in the accompanying 
administrative regulation.  (Education Code 51747.5) 
 
The minimum period of time for any independent study option shall be three consecutive school 
days. 
 
General Independent Study Requirements 
 
For the 2021-22 school year, the district shall offer independent study, as specified in Education 
Code 51745, to meet the educational needs of students unless the district has obtained a waiver.  
(Education Code 51745) 
 
For the 2022-23 school year and thereafter, the Superintendent or designee may continue to offer 
and approve independent study for an individual student upon determining that the student is 
prepared to meet the district's requirements for independent study and is likely to succeed in 
independent study as well as or better than the student would in the regular classroom setting. 
 
(cf. 5147 - Dropout Prevention) 
(cf. 6011 - Academic Standards) 
(cf. 6143 - Courses of Study) 
(cf. 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements) 
(cf. 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation) 
(cf. 6172 - Gifted and Talented Student Program) 
(cf. 6200 - Adult Education)  

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.1 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

BP 6158(b) 
INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 
 
Because excessive leniency in the duration of independent study assignments may result in a 
student falling behind peers and increase the risk of dropping out of school, independent study 
assignments shall be completed no more than one week after assigned for all grade levels and 
types of program. However, when necessary based on the specific circumstances of the student's 
approved program, the Superintendent or designee may allow for a longer period of time 
between the date an assignment is made and when it is due, up to the termination date of the 
agreement. 
 
An evaluation shall be conducted to determine whether it is in a student's best interest to remain 
in independent study whenever the student fails to make satisfactory educational progress and/or 
misses three assignments. Satisfactory educational progress shall be determined based on all of 
the following indicators:  (Education Code 51747) 
 
1. The student's achievement and engagement in the independent study program, as 

indicated by the student's performance on applicable student-level measures of student 
achievement and engagement specified in Education Code 52060 

 
2. The completion of assignments, assessments, or other indicators that evidence that the 

student is working on assignments 
 
3. Learning required concepts, as determined by the supervising teacher 
 
4. Progress towards successful completion of the course of study or individual course, as 

determined by the supervising teacher 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that students participating in independent study are 
provided with content aligned to grade level standards at a level of quality and intellectual 
challenge substantially equivalent to in-person instruction.  For high schools, this shall include 
access to all courses offered by the district for graduation and approved by the University of 
California or the California State University as creditable under the A-G admissions criteria.  
(Education Code 51747) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that students participating in independent study for 
15 school days or more receive the following throughout the school year:  (Education Code 
51747) 
 
1. For students in grades transitional kindergarten, kindergarten, and grades 1 to 3, 

opportunities for daily synchronous instruction 
 
2. For students in grades 4-8, opportunities for both daily live interaction and at least 

weekly synchronous instruction 
 
3. For students in grades 9-12, opportunities for at least weekly synchronous instruction 
  
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.2 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

BP 6158(c) 
INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that procedures for tiered reengagement strategies 
are used for all students who are not generating attendance for more than three school days or 60 
percent of the instructional days in a school week, or who are in violation of their written 
agreement. This requirement only applies to students participating in an independent study 
program for 15 school days or more. The procedures shall include, but are not necessarily limited 
to, all of the following:  (Education Code 51747) 
 
1. Verification of current contact information for each enrolled student 
 
2. Notification to parents/guardians of lack of participation within one school day of the 

absence or lack of participation 
 
3. A plan for outreach from the school to determine student needs, including connection 

with health and social services as necessary 
 
4. A clear standard for requiring a student-parent-educator conference to review a student's 

written agreement and reconsider the independent study program's impact on the student's 
achievement and well-being 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall develop a plan to transition students whose families wish to 
return to in-person instruction from independent study expeditiously, and, in no case later, than 
five instructional days. This requirement only applies to students participating in an independent 
study program for 15 school days or more.  (Education Code 51747) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that a written master agreement exists for each 
participating student as prescribed by law.  (Education Code 51747, 51749.5) 
 
The district shall provide written notice to the parents/guardians of all enrolled students of the 
option to enroll their child in in-person instruction or independent study during the 2021-22 
school year.  This notice shall be posted on the district's web site, and shall include, at a 
minimum, information about the right to request a student-parent-educator conference before 
enrollment, student rights regarding procedures for enrolling, disenrolling, and reenrolling in 
independent study, and the instructional time, including synchronous and asynchronous learning, 
that a student will have access to as part of independent study.  (Education Code 51747) 
 
Upon the request of the parent/guardian of a student, before making a decision about enrolling or 
disenrolling in independent study and entering into a written agreement to do so, the district shall 
conduct a telephone, videoconference, or in-person student-parent-educator conference or other 
meeting during which the student, parent/guardian, or their advocate may ask questions about the 
educational options, including which curriculum offerings and nonacademic supports will be 
available to the student in independent study.  (Education Code 51747) 
 
 
 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.3 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

           BP 6158(d) 
INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 
 
Master Agreement 
 
For the 2021-22 school year only, the district shall obtain a signed written agreement for 
independent study no later than 30 days after the first day of instruction. 
 
A written agreement shall be developed and implemented for each student participating in 
independent study for three or more consecutive school days.  (Education Code 46300, 51747; 5 
CCR 11703) 
 
The agreement shall include general student data, including the student's name, address, grade 
level, birth date, school of enrollment, and program placement. 
 
The independent study agreement for each participating student also shall include, but are not 
limited to, all of the following:  (Education Code 51747; 5 CCR 11700, 11702) 
 
1. The frequency, time, place and manner for submitting the student's assignments, 

reporting the student's academic progress, and communicating with a student's 
parent/guardian regarding the student's academic progress 

 
2. The objectives and methods of study for the student's work and the methods used to 

evaluate that work 
 
3. The specific resources that will be made available to the student, including materials and 

personnel, and access to Internet connectivity and devices adequate to participate in the 
educational program and complete assigned work 

 
4. A statement of the Board's policy detailing the maximum length of time allowed between 

an assignment and its completion, the level of satisfactory educational progress, and the 
number of missed assignments which will trigger an evaluation of whether the student 
should be allowed to continue in independent study 

 
5. The duration of the independent study agreement, including the beginning and ending 

dates for the student's participation in independent study under the agreement, with a 
maximum of one school year 

 
6. A statement of the number of course credits or, for the elementary grades, other measures 

of academic accomplishment appropriate to the agreement, to be earned by the student 
upon completion 

 
7. A statement detailing the academic and other supports that will be provided to address the 

needs of students who are not performing at grade level, or need support in other areas, 
such as English learners, students with disabilities with an individualized education 
program or a Section 504 plan in order to be consistent with their program or plan, 
students in foster care or experiencing homelessness, and students requiring mental health 
supports. 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.4 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

           BP 6158(e) 
INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 
 
8. A statement that independent study is an optional educational alternative in which no 

student may be required to participate 
 
9. In the case of a suspended or expelled student who is referred or assigned to any school, 

class, or program pursuant to Education Code 48915 or 48917, a statement that 
instruction may be provided through independent study only if the student is offered the 
alternative of classroom instruction 

(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
 
10. Before the commencement of independent study, the agreement shall be signed and dated 

by the student, the student's parent/guardian or caregiver if the student is under age 18 
years, the certificated employee responsible for the general supervision of independent 
study, and all persons who have direct responsibility for providing assistance to the 
student. 

 
 However, for the 2021-22 school year, the district shall obtain a signed written agreement 

for independent study from the student, or the student's parent/ guardian if the student is 
less than 18 years of age, the certificated employee who has been designated as having 
responsibility for the general supervision of independent study, and all persons who have 
direct responsibility for providing assistance to the pupil, no later than 30 days after the 
first day of instruction. 

 
Written agreements may be signed using an electronic signature that complies with state and 
federal standards, as determined by the California Department of Education (CDE).  (Education 
Code 51747) 
 
The parent/guardian's signature on the agreement shall constitute permission for the student to 
receive instruction through independent study. 
 
Course-Based Independent Study 
 
The district's course-based independent study program for students in grades K-12 shall be 
subject to the following requirements:  (Education Code 51749.5) 
 
1. A signed learning agreement shall be completed and on file for each participating student 

pursuant to Education Code 51749.6 
 
2. Courses shall be taught under the general supervision of certificated employees who hold 

the appropriate subject matter credential and are employed by the district or by another 
district, charter school, or county office of education with which the district has a 
memorandum of understanding to provide the instruction. 

(cf. 4112.2 - Certification) 
 
 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.5 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

           BP 6158(f) 
INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 
 
3. Courses shall be annually certified by Board resolution to be of the same rigor and 

educational quality and to provide intellectual challenge that is substantially equivalent to 
in-person, classroom-based instruction, and shall be aligned to all relevant local and state 
content standards. For high schools, this shall include access to all courses offered by the 
district for graduation and approved by the University of California or the California 
State University as creditable under the A-G admissions criteria. The certification shall, 
at a minimum, include the duration, number of equivalent daily instructional minutes for 
each school day that student is enrolled, number of equivalent total instructional minutes, 
and number of course credits for each course, consistent with that of equivalent 
classroom-based courses. The certification shall also include plans to provide 
opportunities for students in grades transitional kindergarten, kindergarten, and grades 1-
3 to receive daily synchronous instruction, for students in grades 4-8, to receive both 
daily live interaction and at least weekly synchronous instruction, and for students in 
grades 9-12 to receive at least weekly synchronous instruction.   

 
4. Students enrolled in independent study courses shall meet the applicable age 

requirements established pursuant to Education Code 46300.1, 46300.4, 47612, and 
47612.1, and the applicable residency and enrollment requirements established pursuant 
to Education Code 46300.2, 47612, 48204, and 51747.3. 

 
5. For each student participating in an independent study course, satisfactory educational 

progress shall be determined based on the student's achievement and engagement in the 
independent study program, as indicated by their performance on applicable student-level 
measures of student achievement and student engagement set forth in Education Code 
52060, completion of assignments, assessments, or other indicators that evidence that the 
student is working on assignments, learning of required concepts, as determined by the 
supervising teacher, and progress toward successful completion of the course of study or 
individual course, as determined by the supervising teacher. 
 
If satisfactory educational progress in an independent study class is not being made, the 
teacher shall notify the student and, if the student is under age 18 years, the student's 
parent/guardian. The teacher shall conduct an evaluation to determine whether it is in the 
student's best interest to remain in the course or whether the student should be referred to 
an alternative program, which may include, but is not limited to, a regular school 
program. A written record of the evaluation findings shall be a mandatory interim student 
record maintained for three years from the date of the evaluation. If the student transfers 
to another California public school, the record shall be forwarded to that school. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.6 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

           BP 6158(g) 
INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 

 
Procedures for tiered reengagement strategies shall be used for all students who are not 
making satisfactory educational progress in one or more courses or who are in violation 
of the written learning agreement, as described in the section "Learning Agreement for 
Course-Based Independent Study" below. These procedures shall include, but are not 
necessarily limited to, the verification of current contact information for each enrolled 
student, notification to parents/guardians of lack of participation within one school day of 
the absence or lack of participation, a plan for outreach from the school to determine 
student needs, including connection with health and social services as necessary, and a 
clear standard for requiring a student-parent-educator conference to review a student's 
written agreement and reconsider the independent study program's impact on the student's 
achievement and well-being. 

(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 
 
6. Examinations shall be administered by a proctor. 

 
7. Statewide testing results shall be reported and assigned to the school at which the student 

is enrolled and shall be included in the aggregate results of the district. Test results also 
shall be disaggregated for purposes of comparisons with the test results of students 
enrolled in classroom-based courses. 

(cf. 6162.51 - State Academic Achievement Tests) 
 
8. A student shall not be required to enroll in courses included in the course-based 

independent study program. 
 
9. The student-teacher ratio in the courses in this program shall meet the requirements of 

Education Code 51745.6. 
 BP 6158(h) 
 
10. For each student, the combined equivalent daily instructional minutes for courses in this 

program and all other courses shall meet applicable minimum instructional day 
requirements, and the student shall be offered the minimum annual total equivalent 
instructional minutes pursuant to Education Code 46200-46208. 

(cf. 6111 - School Calendar) 
(cf. 6112 - School Day) 
 
11. Courses required for high school graduation or for admission to the University of 

California or California State University shall not be offered exclusively through 
independent study. 
 

12. A student participating in this program shall not be assessed a fee that is prohibited by 
Education Code 49011. 

(cf. 3260 - Fees and Charges) 
 
 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.7 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 
 
13. A student shall not be prohibited from participating in independent study solely on the 

basis that the student does not have the materials, equipment, or access to Internet 
connectivity necessary to participate in the course. 

 
14. A student with disabilities, as defined in Education Code 56026, shall not participate in 

course-based independent study, unless the student's individualized education program 
specifically provides for that participation. 

 
15. A temporarily disabled student shall not receive individual instruction pursuant to 

Education Code 48206.3 through course-based independent study. 
 
16. The district shall maintain a plan to transition any student whose family wishes to return 

to in-person instruction from course-based independent study expeditiously, and, in no 
case, later than five instructional days. 

 
Learning Agreement for Course-Based Independent Study 
 
Before enrolling a student in a course within this program, the Superintendent or designee shall 
provide the student and, if the student is under age 18 years, the student's parent/guardian with a 
written learning agreement that includes all of the following: (Education Code 51749.6) 
 
1. A summary of the district's policies and procedures related to course-based independent 

study pursuant to Education Code 51749.5 
 
2. The duration of the enrolled course(s) and the number of course credits for each enrolled 

course, consistent with the Board certifications made pursuant to item #2 above 
 
3. The duration of the learning agreement, which shall not exceed a school year or span 

multiple school years 
 
4. The learning objectives and expectations for each course, including, but not limited to, a 

description of how satisfactory educational progress is measured and when a student 
evaluation is required to determine whether the student should remain in the course or be 
referred to an alternative program, which may include, but is not limited to, a regular 
school program 

 
5. The specific resources that will be made available to the student, including materials and 

personnel, and access to Internet connectivity and devices adequate to participate in the 
educational program and complete assigned work 

 
6. A statement detailing the academic and other supports that will be provided to address the 

needs of students who are not performing at grade level, or need support in other areas, 
such as English learners, students with disabilities with an individualized education 
program or a Section 504 plan in order to be consistent with their program or plan, 
students in foster care or experiencing homelessness, and students requiring mental health 
supports. 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.8 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

           BP 6158(i) 
INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 
 
7. A statement that enrollment is an optional educational alternative in which no student 

may be required to participate.  In the case of a student who is suspended or expelled, or 
who is referred or assigned to any school, class, or program pursuant to Education Code 
48915 or 48917, the agreement also shall include the statement that instruction may be 
provided to the student through course-based independent study only if the student is 
offered the alternative of classroom instruction. 

 
8. The manner, time, frequency, and place for submitting a student's assignments, for 

reporting the student's academic progress, and for communicating with a student's 
parent/guardian regarding a student's academic progress. 

 
9. The objectives and methods of study for the student's work, and the methods used to 

evaluate that work. 
 
10. A statement of the adopted policies regarding the maximum length of time allowed 

between the assignment and the completion of a student's assigned work, the level of 
satisfactory educational progress, and the number of missed assignments allowed before 
an evaluation of whether the student should be allowed to continue in course-based 
independent study. 

  
11. A statement of the number of course credits or, for the elementary grades, other measures 

of academic accomplishment appropriate to the learning agreement, to be earned by the 
student upon completion. 

 
12. Before the commencement of an independent study course, the learning agreement shall 

be signed and dated by the student, the student's parent/guardian or caregiver, if the 
student is less than 18 years of age, the certificated employee who has been designated as 
having responsibility for the general supervision of the independent study course, and all 
persons who have direct responsibility for providing assistance to the student.  For 
purposes of this paragraph "caregiver" means a person who has met the requirements of 
Family Code 6550-6552. 

 
However, for the 2021-22 school year only, the district shall obtain a signed written 
agreement for independent study from the student, or the student's parent/guardian if the 
student is less than 18 years of age, the certificated employee who has been designated as 
having responsibility for the general supervision of the independent study course, and all 
persons who have direct responsibility for providing assistance to the pupil no later than 
30 days after the first day of instruction. 

 
Written agreements may be signed using an electronic signature that complies with state 
and federal standards, as determined by the CDE.  (Education Code 51749.6) 

 
 
 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.9 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

BP 6158(j) 
INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 
 
The student's or parent/guardian's signature shall constitute permission for the student to receive 
instruction through independent study.  (Education Code 51749.6) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall retain a physical or electronic copy of the signed learning 
agreement for at least three years and as appropriate for auditing purposes.  (Education Code 
51749.6) 
 
Student-Parent-Educator Conferences 
 
A student-parent-educator conference shall be held as appropriate including, but not limited to, 
as a reengagement strategy and/or if requested by a parent/guardian prior to enrollment or 
disenrollment from independent study.  (Education Code 51745.5, 51747, 51749.5) 
 
Records for Audit Purposes 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that records are maintained for audit purposes. 
These records shall include, but not be limited to:  (Education Code 51748; 5 CCR 11703) 
 
1. A copy of the Board policy, administrative regulation, and other procedures related to 

independent study 
 
2. A listing of the students, by grade level, program, and school, who have participated in 

independent study, along with the units of the curriculum attempted and completed by 
students in grades K-8 and the course credits attempted by and awarded to students in 
grades 9-12 and adult education 

 
3. A file of all agreements, with representative samples of each student's work products 

bearing the supervising teacher's notations indicating that the teacher has personally 
evaluated the work or personally reviewed the evaluations made by another certificated 
teacher 

 
4. As appropriate to the program in which the students are participating, a daily or hourly 

attendance register that is separate from classroom attendance records, maintained on a 
current basis as time values of student work products judged by a certificated teacher, and 
reviewed by the supervising teacher if they are two different persons 

 
5. Appropriate documentation of compliance with the teacher-student ratios required by 

Education Code 51745.6 and 51749.5  (Education Code 51745.6 and 51749.5) 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.10 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

BP 6158(k) 
INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 
 
6. Appropriate documentation of compliance with the requirements pursuant to Education 

Code 51747.5 to ensure the coordination, evaluation, and supervision of the independent 
study of each student by a district employee who possesses a valid certification document 
pursuant to Education Code 44865 or an emergency credential pursuant to Education 
Code 44300  (Education Code 51747.5) 

 
The district shall document each student's participation in live interaction and synchronous 
instruction pursuant to Education Code 51747 on each school day, as applicable, in whole or in 
part, for which independent study is provided.  A student who does not participate in 
independent study on a school day shall be documented as nonparticipatory for that school day.  
(Education Code 51747.5) 
 
The Superintendent or designee also shall maintain a written or computer-based record such as a 
grade book or summary document of student engagement, for each class, of all grades, 
assignments, and assessments for each student for independent study assignments.  (Education 
Code 51747.5) 
 
(cf. 3580 - District Records) 
 
The signed, dated agreement, any supplemental agreement, assignment records, work samples, 
and attendance records may be maintained on file electronically.  (Education Code 51747) 
 
Program Evaluation 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall annually report to the Board the number of district students 
participating in independent study, the average daily attendance generated for apportionment 
purposes, student performance as measured by standard indicators and in comparison to students 
in classroom-based instruction, and the number and proportion of independent study students 
who graduate or successfully complete independent study.  Based on the program evaluation, the 
Board and Superintendent shall determine areas for program improvement as needed. 
 
(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 
(cf. 5121 - Grades/Evaluation of Student Achievement) 
(cf. 6162.5 - Student Assessment) 
 
 
 
Legal Reference:  (see next page) 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.11 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

BP 6158(l) 
INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
17289  Exemption for facilities 
41020  Audit guidelines 
41976.2  Independent study programs; adult education funding 
42238  Revenue limits 
42238.05  Local control funding formula; average daily attendance 
44865  Qualifications for home teachers and teachers in special classes and schools 
46200-46208  Instructional day and year 
46300-46307.1  Methods of computing average daily attendance 
46390-46393  Emergency average daily attendance 
46600  Interdistrict attendance computation 
47612-47612.1  Charter school operation 
47612.5  Independent study in charter schools 
48204  Residency 
48206.3  Home or hospital instruction; students with temporary disabilities 
48220  Classes of children exempted 
48340  Improvement of pupil attendance 
48915  Expulsion; particular circumstances 
48916.1  Educational program requirements for expelled students 
48917  Suspension of expulsion order 
49011  Student fees 
51225.3  Requirements for high school graduation 
51745-51749.6  Independent study programs 
52060  Local control and accountability plan 
52522  Adult education alternative instructional delivery 
52523  Adult education as supplement to high school curriculum; criteria 
56026  Individuals with exceptional needs 
58500-58512  Alternative schools and programs of choice 
FAMILY CODE 
6550-6552  Authorization affidavits 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 
11700-11703  Independent study 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20 
6301  Highly qualified teachers 
6311  State plans 
COURT DECISIONS 
Modesto City Schools v. Education Audits Appeal Panel, (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 1365 

 
 
 
Management Resources:  (see next page) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.12 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

           BP 6158(m) 
INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 
 
 
 
Management Resources: 

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 
Elements of Exemplary Independent Study 
California Digital Learning Integration and Standards Guidance, April 2021 
EDUCATION AUDIT APPEALS PANEL PUBLICATIONS 
Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State Compliance Reporting 
WEB SITES 
California Consortium for Independent Study: http://www.ccis.org 
California Department of Education, Independent Study:  http://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/eo/is 
Education Audit Appeals Panel:  http://www.eaap.ca.gov 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Policy      CSBA MANUAL MAINTENANCE SERVICE 
adopted:          July 2021 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.13 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

 
 
Instruction          AR 6158(a) 
 
INDEPENDENT STUDY 
 
Definitions 
 
Live interaction means interaction between the student and classified or certificated staff, and 
may include peers, provided for the purpose of maintaining school connectedness, including, but 
not limited to, wellness checks, progress monitoring, provision of services, and instruction. This 
interaction may take place in person, or in the form of Internet or telephonic communication.  
(Education Code 51745.5) 
 
Student-parent-educator conference means a meeting involving, at a minimum, all parties who 
signed the student's written independent study agreement pursuant to Education Code 51747 or 
the written learning agreement pursuant to Education Code 51749.6.  (Education Code 51745.5) 
 
Synchronous instruction means classroom-style instruction or designated small group or one-on-
one instruction delivered in person, or in the form of Internet or telephonic communications, and 
involving live two-way communication between the teacher and student. Synchronous 
instruction shall be provided by the teacher of record for that student pursuant to Education Code 
51747.5.  (Education Code 51745.5) 
 
Educational Opportunities 
 
For the 2021-22 school year, the district shall offer independent study to meet the educational 
needs of students as specified in Education Code 51745 unless the district has obtained a waiver.  
(Education Code 51745) 
 
Educational opportunities offered through independent study may include, but are not limited to:  
(Education Code 51745) 
 
1. Special assignments extending the content of regular courses of instruction 
(cf. 6143 - Courses of Study) 
 
2. Individualized study in a particular area of interest or in a subject not currently available 

in the regular school curriculum 
 
3. Individualized alternative education designed to teach the knowledge and skills of the 

core curriculum, but not provided as an alternative curriculum 
 
4. Continuing and special study during travel 
(cf. 5112.3 - Student Leave of Absence) 
 
5. Volunteer community service activities and leadership opportunities that support and 

strengthen student achievement 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.14 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

  
AR 6158(b) 

INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 
 
6. Individualized study for a student whose health, as determined by the student's 

parent/guardian, would be put at risk by in-person instruction 
(cf. 0420.4 - Charter School Authorization) 
(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes) 
(cf. 6181 - Alternative Schools/Programs of Choice) 
 
In addition, when requested by a parent/guardian due to an emergency or illness, independent 
study may be used on a short-term basis to ensure that the student is able to maintain academic 
progress in the student's regular classes. 
(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 
 
No course required for high school graduation shall be offered exclusively through independent 
study.  (Education Code 51745) 
(cf. 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements) 
 
Equivalency 
 
The district's independent study option shall be substantially equivalent in quality and quantity to 
classroom instruction to enable participating students to complete the district's adopted course of 
study within the customary timeframe. Students in independent study shall have access to the 
same services and resources that are available to other students in the school and shall have equal 
rights and privileges.  (5 CCR 11700, 11701.5) 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
Students participating in independent study shall have access to Internet connectivity and devices 
adequate to participate in the educational program and complete assigned work.  (Education 
Code 51747) 
 
The district shall not provide independent study students and their parents/guardians with funds 
or items of value that are not provided for other students and their parents/guardians.  Providing 
access to Internet connectivity and local educational agency-owned devices adequate to 
participate in an independent study program and complete assigned work consistent with 
Education Code 51747, or to participate in an independent study course, as authorized by 
Education Code 51749.5, shall not be considered funds or other things of value.  (Education 
Code 46300.6, 51747.3) 
 
Eligibility for Independent Study 
 
Students are eligible for independent study as authorized in law, and as specified in board policy 
and administrative regulation. 
  
 
 
 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.15 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

 
AR 6158(c) 

INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 
 
For the 2022-23 school year and thereafter, the Superintendent or designee may approve the 
participation of a student who demonstrates the motivation, commitment, organizational skills, 
and academic skills necessary to work independently provided that experienced certificated staff 
are available to effectively supervise students in independent study.  The Superintendent or 
designee may also approve the participation of a student whose health would be put at risk by in-
person instruction.  A student whose academic performance is not at grade level may participate 
in independent study only if the program is able to provide appropriate support, such as 
supplemental instruction, tutoring, counseling, ongoing diagnostic assessments, and/or 
differentiated materials, to enable the student to be successful.  For an elementary student, the 
Superintendent or designee may consider the parent/guardian's level of commitment to assist the 
student. 
 
A student participating in independent study must be a resident of the county or an adjacent 
county.  Full-time independent study shall not be available to students whose district residency 
status is based on their parent/guardian's employment within district boundaries pursuant to 
Education Code 48204.  (Education Code 46300.2, 51747.3) 
(cf. 5111.1 - District Residency) 
 
A student with disabilities, as defined in Education Code 56026, shall not participate in 
independent study unless the student's individualized education program specifically provides for 
such participation.  (Education Code 51745) 
(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program) 
 
A temporarily disabled student shall not receive individual instruction pursuant to Education 
Code 48206.3 by means of independent study.  (Education Code 51745) 
(cf. 6183 - Home and Hospital Instruction) 
 
Students age 21 or older, and students age 19 or older who have not been continuously enrolled 
in school since their 18th birthday, may participate in independent study only through the adult 
education program for the purpose of enrolling in courses required for a high school diploma by 
Education Code 51225.3 or the Governing Board.  (Education Code 46300.1, 46300.4) 
(cf. 6200 - Adult Education) 
 
No more than 10 percent of the students enrolled in a continuation high school or opportunity 
school or program, not including pregnant students and parenting students who are primary 
caregivers for one or more of their children, shall be enrolled in independent study.  (Education 
Code 51745) 
(cf. 5146 - Married/Pregnant/Parenting Students)  
(cf. 6184 - Continuation Education) 
  
Monitoring Student Progress 
 
The independent study administrator and/or supervising teacher shall promptly and directly 
address any failure by the student to meet the terms of the student's written agreement. The 
following supportive strategies may be used: 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.16 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

AR 6158(d) 
INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 
 
1. A letter to the student and/or parent/guardian 
 
2. A meeting between the student and the teacher and/or counselor 
 
3. A meeting between the student and the independent study administrator, including the 

parent/guardian if appropriate 
 
4. An increase in the amount of time the student works under direct supervision 
 
When the student has failed to make satisfactory educational progress or missed the number of 
assignments specified in the written agreement as requiring an evaluation, the Superintendent or 
designee shall conduct an evaluation to determine whether or not independent study is 
appropriate for the student. This evaluation may result in termination of the independent study 
agreement and the student's return to the regular classroom program or other alternative program. 
 
A written record of the findings of any such evaluation shall be treated as a mandatory interim 
student record which shall be maintained for three years from the date of the evaluation.  
(Education Code 51747) 
 
Responsibilities of Independent Study Administrator 
 
The responsibilities of the independent study administrator include, but are not limited to: 
 
1. Recommending certificated staff to be assigned as independent study teachers at the 

required teacher-student ratios pursuant to Education Code 51745.6 and supervising staff 
assigned to independent study functions who are not regularly supervised by another 
administrator 

 
2. Approving or denying the participation of students requesting independent study 
 
3. Facilitating the completion of written independent study agreements 
 
4. Ensuring a smooth transition for students into and out of the independent study mode of 

instruction 
 
5. Approving all credits earned through independent study 
  
 
6. Completing or coordinating the preparation of all records and reports required by law, 

Board policy, or administrative regulation 
 
 
 
 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.17 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

AR 6158(e) 
INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued) 
 
Assignment and Responsibilities of Independent Study Teachers 
 
Each student's independent study shall be coordinated, evaluated, and carried out under the 
general supervision of a district employee who possesses a valid certification document pursuant 
to Education Code 44865 or emergency credential pursuant to Education Code 44300, registered 
as required by law, and who consents to the assignment.  (Education Code 44865, 51747.5; 5 
CCR 11700) 
 
The ratio of student average daily attendance for independent study students age 18 years or 
younger to full-time equivalent certificated employees responsible for independent study shall 
not exceed the equivalent ratio for all other education programs in the district, unless a new 
higher or lower ratio for all other educational programs offered is negotiated in a collective 
bargaining agreement or the district enters into a memorandum of understanding that indicates an 
existing collective bargaining agreement contains an alternative ratio.  (Education Code 51745.6) 
 
The responsibilities of the supervising teacher shall include, but are not limited to: 
 
1. Completing designated portions of the written independent study agreement and signing 

the agreement 
2. Supervising and approving coursework and assignments 
3. Maintaining records of student assignments showing the date the assignment is given and 

the date the assignment is due 
4. Maintaining a daily or hourly attendance register in accordance with item #4 in the 

section on "Records for Audit Purpose" in the accompanying Board policy 
5. Providing direct instruction and counsel as necessary for individual student success 
6. Regularly meeting with the student to discuss the student's progress 
7. Determining the time value of assigned work or work products completed and submitted 

by the student 
8. Assessing student work and assigning grades or other approved measures of achievement 
9. Documenting each student's participation in live interaction and/or synchronous 

instruction pursuant to Education Code 51747 on each school day for which independent 
study is provided 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that independent study teachers have access to 
professional development and support comparable to classroom-based teachers. 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Regulation     CSBA MANUAL MAINTENANCE SERVICE 
approved:            July 2021 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 17.18 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

 
  

 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION ITEM L4 
 
Board Meeting Date:  August 12, 2021 
 
Subject: Approval of LHS Campus Safety Support/Yard Supervision – Job 

Description 
 
From:    Joan Potter, Superintendent 
 
Explanation: 
 
Following the recommendation of the WASC committee, a new position is being created at the 
High School.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendation: 
Approve the Job Description for LHS Campus Safety Support/Yard Supervision 
 
Attachments: 
Proposed Job Description 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 18 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

LAYTONVILLE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 CAMPUS SAFETY SUPPORT/YARD SUPERVISION 

 
DEFINITION:  Under the general direction of the Principal, assists in the enforcement of 
school rules and the maintenance of public safety, specifically in non-classroom settings such as 
the fields, grounds, hallways and areas adjacent to the schools, and off campus during the lunch 
hour, and reports on the school environment as it relates to student discipline and safety.   
 
EXAMPLE OF DUTIES:  
 

• Monitors areas adjacent to the campus and off campus during the lunch hour. (E) 
• Monitors restrooms and locker room areas. (E) 
• Document student misbehavior and make referrals to the Principal for further action.  E 
• Monitors the maintenance of a clean campus; reports unsafe or damaged facilities. (E) 
• Intervenes when student safety is at risk or to avert potentially dangerous student 

interactions. (E) 
• Administers first aid and emotional support as needed. (E) 
• Monitors student conduct within school buildings and grounds.  
• Mediate student arguments and/or confrontations.  (E) 
• Monitors student community service work. 
• Checks passes and late slips; monitors students who are out of their assigned areas; 

monitors parking areas and student driving infractions. 
• Reports suspicious or unusual behavior or persons in or around the schools. 
• Monitors and directs visitors to the school office. 
• Works with radio communications to monitor schools and adjacent areas. 
• Other related duties as assigned. 

  
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS:  
 

• Education equivalent to graduation from high school. 
• The desire to help young people overcome their problems and to be successful at school. 
• Ability to communicate clearly and effectively with students, parents and staff 
• Ability to provide a “safe haven” for students while enforcing school rules and 

expectations. 
• Ability to clearly and succinctly record events and information for reports. 
• Ability to monitor and supervise individuals and groups of students. 
• Ability to remain calm and composed during tense or emergency or injury related 

situations. 
• Ability to follow oral and written instructions and to maintain schedules. 
• Ability to maintain confidentiality. 
• Holds current first aid card and CPR certification.  
• Ability to seek advice, direction and additional resources from supervisors in emergency 

situations such as serious injury or illness, suspected child abuse or suicidal comments. 
 
 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 18.1 



 

 
Laytonville Unified School District 
August 12, 2021 

DESIRABLE QUALIFICATIONS: 
 

• Post-secondary education, preferably in psychology, health or related fields. 
• Previous professional experience with adolescents. 

 
LICENSES AND CERTIFICATES REQUIRED: 
 

• Possess valid California driver’s license, First Aid Card and CPR certification. 
 
PHYSICAL ABILITIES REQUIRED: 
 

• Ability to lift objects up to 25 pounds of weight from ground level to waist height, and 
move these objects about. 

• Sufficient mobility to reach, stretch, bend, stoop and kneel in response to injured students 
who may be laying on the ground or under play structures.  

•  Ability to walk around campus for extended periods of time. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Adopted:       Range 3       E=Essential 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Page 18.2 


	INDEPENDENT STUDY
	INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued)
	INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued)
	INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued)
	Master Agreement
	INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued)
	INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued)
	3. Courses shall be annually certified by Board resolution to be of the same rigor and educational quality and to provide intellectual challenge that is substantially equivalent to in-person, classroom-based instruction, and shall be aligned to all re...
	INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued)
	(cf. 5125 - Student Records)
	INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued)
	INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued)
	INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued)
	Records for Audit Purposes
	INDEPENDENT STUDY  (continued)
	EDUCATION CODE
	17289  Exemption for facilities
	41020  Audit guidelines
	41976.2  Independent study programs; adult education funding
	42238  Revenue limits
	42238.05  Local control funding formula; average daily attendance
	FAMILY CODE
	6550-6552  Authorization affidavits
	CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5
	CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS
	Elements of Exemplary Independent Study
	WEB SITES
	California Consortium for Independent Study: http://www.ccis.org
	California Department of Education, Independent Study:  http://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/eo/is
	INDEPENDENT STUDY
	Eligibility for Independent Study
	Monitoring Student Progress
	Responsibilities of Independent Study Administrator
	Assignment and Responsibilities of Independent Study Teachers

